
Annual Report

2
0

11

together

Quebec’s Leader in Oil Exploration



A word from the President  02

Vision 06

The year in review 08

Management discussion and analysis   12

Independent auditor’s report 34

Balance sheet 36

Statement of income and comprehensive income 37

Statement of shareholders’ equity 38

Statement of deferred exploration expenses 39

Statement of cash flows 40

Notes to financial statements, september 30, 2011

 1. Instrument of incorporation and nature of activities 41

 2. Significant accounting policies 41

 3. Future accounting policies 43

 4. Financial instrument disclosures 44

 5. Capital management 47

 6.  Receivables 47

 7.  Investments 47

 8. Tangible fixed assets 48

 9. Oil and gas properties  48

 10. Deferred exploration expenses 50

 11. Loan 52

 12. Provision for future site restoration 52

 13. Capital stock 53

 14. Future income taxes 55

 15. Commitments 56

 16. Contingencies 56

 17. Related-party transactions 57

 18. Additional cash flow information 58

 19. Events subsequent to the balance sheet date  58

 20. Comparative figures 58

Appendix 59

Table of contents



The birth of Quebec’s 
oil and gas industry 
is an opportunity  
to build together a 
more environmentally 
responsible industry.
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independence 
and solidarity

The ability to meet our own needs by exploiting our oil  
and gas resources is an act of international solidarity.
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The announcement of the analytical results of the cored 
interval taken from the Chaloupe well in summer 2010 
and the assessment of the total petroleum initially in place 
in the Macasty shale on Anticosti Island are behind the 
increase in Pétrolia’ stock price and was by far the greatest 
highlight of the last year. This immense potential attracted 
the attention of the Quebec media, but more importantly, 
placed Pétrolia on the radar screens of both national and 
international investors.

In a context of uncertainty that has driven down the 
principal stock markets, this increase shows that Pétrolia’s 
potential is being recognized, as well as the value of its 
territories and the wisdom of the choices made in the last 
few years. In fact, Pétrolia is the only active oil and gas 
exploration company to see its stock price go up this  
past year. 

Haldimand a top priority

Despite the interest sparked by the Macasty shale,  
developing Haldimand is still our immediate priority.  
The work performed this past year has give us a better 
understanding of the reservoir and its production  
mechanism, with the result that we can now anticipate 
commercial production from the Haldimand No. 3 well  
and achieve our goal to move to the production stage.  
We acquired tremendous knowledge this year that paves 
the way to work that could be decisive for the Company. 

While it may not be a world-class discovery, the deposit 
nevertheless holds at least 8 million recoverable barrels. 
The anticipated success of this well will allow us to develop 
reserves, generate a stable revenue stream and establish 
Pétrolia as a credible oil producer. Haldimand can be said  
to be the catalyst that will speed up Pétrolia’s development. 
At the time of writing, the Ministry of Natural Resources 
and Wildlife (MRNF) was studying our application  
for a licence. We will drill the third well once we have  
the licence and the equipment becomes available. 

Relaunch of the Bourque property

This past year we relaunched the Bourque property. The 
type of targets involved on this property and its production 
potential could take Pétrolia to new heights.

Two structures have been identified on the property and 
both are at the drilling phase. The first consists of a pin-
nacle reef while the second is more like a barrier reef. The 
Company would like to drill these two structures as soon 
as possible and is working hard to secure financing for the 
two wells. However, our priority is to find a balance between 
risk and return for our shareholders. 

We submitted two drilling permit applications to the MRNF 
at the end of the fiscal year, which were being studied at 
the time this report was prepared. We have gone to great 
lengths to place ourselves in a position of control so that 
we can act when the time is right, a position many would 
consider enviable. 

Pétrolia is the only active oil and gas exploration 
company in Quebec to see its stock price go up  
this past year. 

A word from the President

independence 
and solidarity
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Strengthening the team

This past year Pétrolia demonstrated its potential, deepened 
its knowledge and did what it had to do to obtain the neces-
sary authorizations to develop its properties. Next year 
promises to be one of unprecedented development. 

In view of this, Pétrolia has beefed up its technical and  
administrative expertise to allow it to manage this  
anticipated development. 

Driven to get ahead

The knowledge and skills acquired, together with the drill-
ing permit applications filed, demonstrate the Company’s 
intention to be an economic development actor in Quebec. 
Today, Pétrolia stands out for its growth potential and 
willingness to act. 

Quebec’s oil potential is a formidable development tool that 
is all the more attractive because it is located in areas where 
economic development is lacking in many respects. As it 
stands today, Pétrolia can play a leading role in developing 
this potential. More than ever, we have the means and  
resources to become Quebec’s foremost oil producer.

André Proulx, president of the Company
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From explorer to producer 

Quebec’s oil potential 
is a formidable 
development tool and 
more than ever, the 
Company has the 
means and resources 
to become Quebec’s 
foremost oil producer.
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Founded in 2003, Pétrolia is proud of its Quebec and 
regional roots. Our goal is to meet the province’s oil 
needs by tapping into its resources. Pétrolia aspires 
to become a fully-fledged oil company and in so doing 
become a key player in the economic development of 
Eastern Quebec. 

Vision
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To this end, Pétrolia feels strongly about keeping an owner-
ship interest of over 50% in its licences. We are adamant in 
this regard for two reasons: first, it allows us to maximize 
shareholder return, and second, social acceptance is easier 
to come by if Quebec controls the resource. 

From its early days, Pétrolia focused on oil prospecting 
and to this end acquired licences covering over 14,000 km2. 
These licences account for more than 70% of Quebec’s land 
petroleum potential. 

The discovery of the Haldimand deposit, the relaunch of  
the Bourque project, where two structures are ready for 
drilling, and the confirmation of the oil potential of the 
Macasty shale, among other things, all seem to indicate 

that Quebec could be self-sufficient for its oil needs. With 
rising oil demand and prices, there is immense potential  
for creating wealth by developing Quebec’s oil resources. 

Respect for the environment and communities where it 
works are fundamental values at Pétrolia. 

As it prepares to move to production, Pétrolia is more  
determined than ever to achieve its goal. 

listening  
for better integration

The communities have a right to complete, transparent  
information and assurance that the work will be performed 
following the best industry practices.



against the tide
Pétrolia is the only active oil and gas exploration company  
in Quebec to maintain an unrelenting level of activity despite  
the current economic and political climate.
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Since this immense potential has barely been tapped,  
the Company endeavoured to craft a development plan  
and a financing strategy to ensure its implementation. 

At the same time, Pétrolia stepped up its efforts on projects 
more likely to generate revenues in the near term and to 
transform the Company into a fully fledged oil producer in 
keeping with the objective it had set for itself and approved 
by its shareholders.

Haldimand property

The development of Haldimand, whose recoverable petroleum 
initially-in-place is estimated at 8 million barrels, is Pétrolia’s 
best bet to quickly achieve this rank. Bringing a first de-
posit into production is the first step towards establishing 
a fully-fledged oil company capable of taking charge of its 
development. Tremendous efforts were made to understand 
the reservoir and its production system with a view to  
embarking on another round of drilling and maximizing 
the chances of success. 

This work greatly increased the Company’s understanding 
of the Haldimand deposit. First thought to be an unconven-
tional structure that would require stimulation, Haldimand 
now appears to be made up of fracture zones that favour  
the natural flow of oil to the well. This finding is all the 
more important as it means that conventional production 
methods can be used, which is what the Company prefers. 
That said, Pétrolia must proceed on the premise that 
stimulation will be required. If this turns out to be  
the case, all the work will be performed in accordance  
with applicable regulations.

The drilling permit application for Haldimand No. 3 well, 
which was being studied by the MRNF at the time this 
report was being prepared, was submitted based on this 
information. The well will be drilled horizontally in order  
to intercept as many fractures as possible and thereby 
maximize the well’s productivity. Drilling will begin as  
soon as the licence is obtained and a drilling rig can get  
to the site. Pétrolia does not foresee any problems and the 
field should soon be in production, allowing us to evaluate 
the reserves. 

Bourque property

The Bourque property is very important to Pétrolia and its 
shareholders in view of the size of the potential discoveries 
and the interest this would generate in the Company’s other 
properties in the Gaspé region, characterized by similar 
geological conditions. Moreover, the targets are conventional, 
which plays in the Company’s favour given the current situ-
ation. This property could also lead to substantial economic 
activity associated with raw material processing in a region 
that could use it. 

At the close of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011,  
Pétrolia submitted applications to the MRNF to drill two 
wells, one for each structure identified. The wells were  
designed to the highest industry standards. At the time  
of writing, these applications were being analyzed by  
the MRNF. 

The announcement of the analytical results of  
the cored interval taken from the Macasty shale  
and the assessment of its oil potential drew attention 
to Pétrolia’s stock, pushing up its price. 

The year in   
 review  
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producingfor a more responsible approach

By its nature, the Bourque property calls for conventional 
drilling techniques. In light of the current context in 
Quebec, this fact will increase its chances of acceptance by 
the community and at the same time eliminate the delays 
associated with the government having to study the effects 
of fracturing. 

As well, the Bourque property is located near the Haldimand 
deposit, which makes the planning and work easier. 

Anticosti property

The territory on Anticosti Island, where Pétrolia holds an 
interest in over 6,000 km2, has tremendous potential in 
the long term. Early in 2011, Pétrolia unveiled the results 
of the core samples taken from the Macasty shale in 2010. 
Then, based on the information available, it revealed the 
estimated volume of oil in this deposit. This assessment, 
prepared by Sproule, pegs at over 30 billion barrels the  
undiscovered petroleum initially in place in the Macasty 
shale covered by the licences in which Pétrolia holds  
ownership interests. 

The oil in the Macasty shales opens an entirely new oil  
play on Anticosti Island. Pétrolia has endeavoured to find 
the best approach to develop these territories and facilitate 
the financing of extensive work that will be required to 
demonstrate the ability to exploit the resources. 

Notwithstanding the Macasty shale’s immense potential,  
it is important to understand that the Anticosti exploration 
program is at an early stage; more work will be required 
to determine the potential for commercially viable resource 
recovery before proceeding to any development phase.  
Pétrolia spent the rest of the year crafting a development 
plan and weighing its options, more specifically, partner-
ships for the next exploration steps and to determine  
the volume of oil available in the shales. 

Social and environmental acceptance

During the year, Pétrolia continued its efforts to promote 
acceptance and integration of its projects into the commu-
nities where it works. This acceptance requires that the 
Company acknowledges these communities’ rights to  
complete, transparent information and assurance that the 
work will be performed following best industry practices. 

It is with this in mind, for example, that the drilling  
programs proposed to the MRNF were developed, modeled 
after the practices recommended in the supplemental 
environmental assessment prepared by New York State’s 
Department of Environmental Conservation. The criteria 
selected by the Company for its drilling programs exceed 
current standards. 

The Company has also aligned itself with scientists  
in Quebec universities (INRS, UQAC, Université Laval)  
in order to better understand the impact of its activities  
on the environment, both in Gaspé and on Anticosti Island, 
all with a view to better addressing the legitimate concerns 
of their communities. 

For instance, in fall 2011, the INRS will undertake a 
hydrogeological assessment of the Haldimand peninsula 
and set up a monitoring mechanism to assess the effects 
of Pétrolia’s projected work. The INRS is responsible for 
developing the program and monitoring the work while  
Pétrolia will defray a portion of the costs. The community 
has also been invited to take part in this project. Information 
about and the results of this five-year study and monitoring 
project will be announced periodically. 

In the same vein, Pétrolia has agreed to fund some of  
the work of Université Laval’s NSERC-Forestry Products 
Industrial Research Chair, more specifically, the cost of  
the research to determine the effect of exploration work on 
the behaviour of the whitetail deer. The Chair’s mandate 
was recently renewed and work will begin in 2012. 
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For economic, environmental and solidarity reasons, 
Pétrolia advocates responsible use of all forms of energy. 
Hydrocarbon exploration, especially oil, is right in line  
with this responsible approach. 

While using less energy makes economic sense, the fact is 
that energy is fundamental to the quality of our lives and 
as such, it is a demand that must be met. Developing Quebec’s 
energy potential is therefore an economic development  
opportunity not to be missed. 

Be it through more responsible use or local production, 
replacing all or some of the $12 billion in annual oil im-
ports would generate considerable wealth for the province. 
Energy efficiency and local oil production are complemen-
tary ways of assuring Quebec’s economic development. 

From an environmental perspective, the practices of 
Canada’s oil industry are among the best in the world. 
The regulatory framework in Canada and Quebec ensure 
environmentally responsible resource exploitation,  
meaning that to meet our energy needs, particularly for oil,  
we are required to exploit our resources responsibly and  
continuously improve our practices.

Fossil fuels (oil, natural gas and coal) supply 81.3% of  
the world’s energy needs, a percentage that according  
to the International Energy Agency will still be as high  
25 years from now. The Agency predicts that humanity’s 
energy needs will grow by more than 35% during this 
period as will demand for all forms of energy. Meeting  
this demand will be one of the world’s greatest challenges. 
Quebec will not be spared, hence the importance of stepping 
up the efforts to both limit its dependence on oil and to 
ensure supply. 

The issue becomes all the more critical when you consider 
that over 1.5 billion people still don’t have access to 
electricity and another billion have no reliable sources of 
energy to meet their household cooking and heating needs. 
While meeting the energy needs of industrialized nations  
is important to maintaining their quality of life, the issue  
is much more fundamental in developing countries, where 
access to reliable, affordable sources of energy is the key  
to economic development, agricultural viability, effective 
means of communications and a greater life expectancy. 
From this perspective, the ability to meet our own needs  
by exploiting our oil and gas resources is an act of 
international solidarity. 

Moreover, exploiting our own natural resources makes 
us more energy independent. The entire world is worried 
about the security of energy supply, another issue Quebec 
cannot escape. 

Lastly, the wealth created by exploiting the oil resources in 
Quebec is not only used to fund public services but can be 
used to invest in new forms of energy. Oil exploitation is a 
way to finance the means to build a more responsible world.

Ensuring our energy supply from local resources therefore 
seems more responsible than importing. And using more 
energy efficient technologies is clearly the way to go. 
However, the fact is that in the near and medium terms at 
least, these technologies will not replace oil. The alternatives, 
especially if produced locally, are either too expensive,  
not reliable enough or even more harmful than oil  
(e.g., farmland used for energy production). 

Environmental stewardship

producingfor a more responsible approach
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being proactive
Pétrolia has aligned itself with scientists in order to improve 
industry practices as well as to develop oil potential in harmony 
with the communities.
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This management discussion and analysis report (MD&A) 
is an addition and supplement to the audited financial  
statements for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2011 
and 2010 and should be read in conjunction with those 
statements, which were prepared in accordance with  
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
This MD&A presents Management’s views on current  
Company activities and on the annual financial results,  
as well as a preview of the activities of the next fiscal year.

1. Date

The effective date of this MD&A is December 5, 2011. 

2. Incorporation and mission

The Company, incorporated under Part 1A of the Quebec 
Companies Act and governed by the provisions of the 
Quebec Business Corporations Act, is an oil and gas 
exploration company. The Company has been trading on  
the TSX Venture Exchange since February 16, 2005 under 
the symbol PEA.

The Company’s oil and gas properties are at the exploration 
stage. The Company’s long-term profitability is tied in  
part to the cost and success of the exploration programs 
and subsequent development. Pétrolia has not yet 
determined whether its properties hold economically 
profitable reserves. 

Pétrolia’s core business is exploring and developing oil and 
gas properties. In order to achieve its objectives, the Company 
has to form partnerships with other industry actors. 

3. Forward-looking statements

Certain statements in this document are “forward-looking 
statements.” Such statements relate to future events or 
future economic results anticipated by Pétrolia and are 
therefore subject to known and unknown risks, uncertain-
ties and other factors which may cause actual results, levels 
of activity and achievements to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied by such statements. Accordingly, any 
decision to invest in Pétrolia stock should in no way be 
based on these forward-looking statements. The Company 
undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statements.

4. Highlights of the year ended September 30, 2011    

The increase in Pétrolia’s share price as of mid-February  
is by far the greatest highlight of the year. This increase is 
all the more impressive considering that none of Pétrolia’s 
counterparts in Quebec saw their stock price go up this  
last year and that all the stock markets were down.

The announcement of Anticosti Island’s potential and the 
Company’s intention to continue developing the potential  
of the territories in which it holds ownership interests  
attracted the attention of financial markets here and  
elsewhere. Other highlights include: 

•	 Signature	of	a	definitive	agreement	with	Québénergie	
to develop the Haldimand oilfield and surrounding 
area;

•	 Unveiling	of	the	coring	results	for	the	Macasty	 
Formation on Anticosti Island; 

•	 Unveiling	of	the	preliminary	estimate	of	the	oil	
potential of the Macasty shale on Anticosti Island, 
established at over 30 billion barrels of undiscovered 
petroleum initially-in-place; 

•	 Exercise	of	warrants	and	options	that	enabled	the	
Company to cash in $4,804,148 during the year.

Management discussion  
and analysis 
 for the year ended September 30, 2011
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Pétrolia’s mission is to discover marketable oil resources 
and to put them into production as soon as possible in order 
to ensure its profitability. In the pursuit of this mission, 
the Company never loses sight of the importance of work 
safety, environmental protection and community relations. 
To this end, Pétrolia holds rights in promising licences and 
associates with partners with the appropriate technical and 
financial resources. The Company relies on scientific knowl-
edge before it installs its wells, which are drilled using best 
industry practices and techniques. Special attention is paid 
to building alliances with the communities where it carries 
out its activities. 

6. Licences and partnerships

Pétrolia holds licences for and interests in over 14,000 km2. 
The licence holdings appear in the map below.

On Anticosti Island, Pétrolia holds interests in 35 licences 
on over 6,000 km2. Its interest is 25% in six of these 
licences and 50% in the remaining twenty-nine. Corridor 
Resources Inc. holds the remainder. 

In the first quarter, Pétrolia entered into a partnership 
agreement with Québénergie, a subsidiary of SCDM (Paris), 
to speed up the development of the Haldimand deposit and 
surrounding territory (± 2,500 km2). Each partner holds  
a 50% interest. The following map shows the territory  
covered by the agreement.

Pétrolia’s interests

Pétrolia and 
Québénergie’s interests

Pétrolia and Corridor 
Resources Inc.’s interests

QC

NB

Tar Point

PERCÉ

Gaspé

Haldimand
Edgar

Gastonguay

Gaspé

Gaspésia

Marcel Tremblay

ANTICOSTI ISLAND
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7. A dominant position

In Quebec, oil resources are found in the east of the prov-
ince, in the Gaspé region, on Anticosti Island, and perhaps 
in the Gulf of St. Lawrence. Since it was founded in 2005, 
the Company has acquired licences that cover more than 
14,000 km2, mainly in the Gaspé region and on Anticosti 
Island. These licences cover more than 70% of Quebec’s land 
petroleum potential.

The Company may have appeared rash when it concen-
trated its efforts on searching for oil at a time when the 
industry was enthusiastic about shale gas. However,  
the recent and foreseeable rise in the price of oil and  
natural gas has made the Company’s decision appear wise 
in hindsight. The portion of the territory controlled by  
Pétrolia that has potential for oil makes it a dominant 
player in Quebec.

8. Properties and works

8.1 Haldimand property

The recoverable oil resources from the Haldimand deposit, 
near Gaspé, are estimated at 7.7 million barrels on 9 km² 
(best estimate by Sproule Associates Limited). However, this 
figure may be higher since the geophysical data indicates 
that the structure extends beyond this area.

8.1.1 Objectives

In accordance with the Company’s strategy, putting the 
Haldimand deposit into production is the priority. Drilling 
a horizontal well appears to be the best way to achieve this 
objective in the short term. 

The second objective for Haldimand is to identify additional 
recoverable resources. 

8.1.2 Studies and projects

Putting the Haldimand deposit into production poses 
numerous challenges that the Company is attempting to 
resolve with the help of specialized outside firms. The work 
undertaken to date has revealed low permeability reserves. 
However, despite this characteristic, the Haldimand No. 1 
well naturally produced approximately 10 barrels per day 
during the production tests conducted all through the year.

Studies were carried out throughout the year to understand 
the deposit’s natural permeability mechanism, the hydro-
carbon distribution and the zones likely to be more produc-
tive in order to establish the trajectory of the new wells so  
as to naturally optimize production potential. The next well, 
Haldimand No. 3, should provide a better picture of the 
expanse of the Haldimand structure and make it possible  
to confirm the resources. 

In addition to assessing the known part of the field, covered 
by the 3D seismic survey, work is underway to find out how 
far the deposit extends beyond the area assessed and to 
determine its potential. 

As a result of these studies and analyses, the Company 
now has a better understanding of the Haldimand reservoir 
and its production mechanism. The reservoir appears to be 
made up of a network of natural fractures that ensure the 
free flow of oil. This is an important discovery that may 
allow for conventional exploitation, in other words, without 
having to resort to fracturing. This knowledge was used  
to design the Haldimand No. 3 well for which the Company 
has requested a drilling permit from the MRNF.
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The purpose of drilling a directional well is to verify the 
production capacity of the natural fractures, which play an 
important role in the production mechanism, acting as a 
drain that channels the oil from the low permeability layers 
towards the well. Data collected from Haldimand No. 2 in 
2009 provided information about these fractures. The 3D 
seismic reprocessing and magnetotelluric survey under-
taken during the year will also help optimize the trajectory 
of the future well so that its horizontal part intersects as 
many natural fractures as possible from a good angle.  
A drilling program has been prepared and the application 
for a drilling permit was being studied by the MRNF at 
the time this report was prepared. The work will begin as 
soon as the permit is obtained and the required equipment 
becomes available. Under the agreement with Québénergie, 
the latter will assume Pétrolia’s participation costs. 

The Company favours conventional exploitation of the 
deposit. However, the assumption that fracturing will be 
required cannot be eliminated at this stage. Studies in  
relation to this assumption were conducted during  
the year and are described in 8.1.7.

The following flowchart illustrates the planned work  
and possible decisions for the Haldimand property.

DECISION CHART 

Haldimand field

8.1.4 Haldimand No. 1 production testing and other works

Pétrolia continued production testing of the Haldimand 
No. 1 well begun on June 30, 2010 in order to collect 
additional information on the deposit and to better identify 
its characteristics. A total of 736 m3 (4,632 barrels) of oil 
were produced during this test period. A portion of the 
well’s production was placed in inventory.

Two licences were also granted to consolidate the inter-
mediate casing of the Haldimand No. 1 well. This work,  
which will take about 30 days to complete, began in  
mid-October 2011. 

8.1.5 Field study

During the quarter, the full range of data on the deposit 
(including well and seismic data) was compiled into a 
digital model using Gocad 3D visualization and modelling 
software to produce a three-dimensional map of the oil  
accumulation. Future data can be integrated into the model, 
thus enabling better planning of the work to come. 

The studies conducted or started during the past  
year include:

•	 Adjustment	and	calibration	of	the	vertical	seismic	
profile for Haldimand No. 2; 

•	 A	study	of	the	fractures	observed	in	the	Haldimand	
No. 2 core samples and the FMI log in order to better 
understand the field’s hydrocarbon flow; 

•	 Reprocessing	of	3D	data	and	an	anisotropy	study	
based on 3D seismic data; 

•	 A	calibration	study	of	the	magnetic	resonance	(CMR)	
logs that will establish the porosity and permeability 
values obtained by these logs.
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8.1.6 Additional surveys

A magnetotelluric survey was undertaken during the year 
to obtain more specific data on the deposit’s geometry and 
its extension outside the zone covered by the 3D seismic 
survey. This method, used to compile the seismic map of  
the oilfield in zones where seismic data are either missing 
or unusable, may make it possible to identify the zones 
most conducive to oil accumulation and the orientation  
and intensity of the natural fractures.

Good quality data were obtained and early results show 
that the method has enabled reliable mapping of the top  
of the reservoir as well as the intensity and orientation  
of its natural fracturing. 

In addition, the licences concerning the 2D seismic data 
acquired by SOQUIP and Petro-Canada in 1982 in the area 
close to the Haldimand deposit were purchased and the data 
reprocessed, resulting in much improved data. 

A report on the gravity reversal survey has been received 
and is being evaluated. This study should make it possible  
to define new drilling targets outside the Haldimand deposit.

8.1.7 Fracturing tests

The Company prefers to use conventional extraction  
methods. The Haldimand No. 3 well will play a decisive role 
in this regard. Still, Pétrolia is studying the possibility of 
conducting well stimulation tests with hydraulic fracturing 
with a view to optimizing well productivity. A decision on 
this matter is still pending.

Laboratory tests were performed to identify the best frac-
turing fluid to use. As well, Pétrolia obtained a permit from 
the MRNF to conduct an injectivity test in the Haldimand 
No. 1 well. This test will provide useful information if a 
fracturing program is required in the future and will be 
conducted once the work begun in mid-October (described 
in section 8.1.4) is completed.

If conducted, the test dates will depend on the results of  
the analyses, the availability of the required equipment  
and the government approval process. 

8.1.8 Environmental studies

Concurrently with these studies, the Company is working 
on a plan to acquire scientific and environmental monitor-
ing information. Discussions about establishing a research 
program are ongoing with various Quebec universities, 
particularly the Institut national de la recherche scientifique 
(INRS).

One of the main purposes of this program is to determine 
the hyrogeological situation at time zero. The research 
protocol for this particular component will be established 
by the INRS and the work will be carried out by TechnoRem 
Inc. starting in fall 2011. This research project was 
announced in mid-October 2011. 

8.2 Tar Point property

Drilled in 2009 and located 15 kilometres southeast  
of the Haldimand wells, this well has bottomed out at  
2,434 metres. It crosses the entire York River Formation  
as well as part of the Indian Cove Formation.

There were few signs of oil in the York River Formation  
but light crude was found during a production test on  
a fractured zone of the Indian Cove Formation.

8.2.1 Objectives

The objective is to demonstrate the Indian Cove Formation’s 
capacity for commercial oil production. Since signs of oil 
have been systematically observed in this formation, this 
area offers an interesting exploration opportunity in  
the Gaspé region. 

8.2.2 Studies and projects

The drilling results for Pétrolia-Tar Point No. 1 confirm 
Indian Cove’s high hydrocarbon potential. The characteris-
tics found in this formation indicate a fractured potential 
reservoir whose eventual exploitation will likely require 
hydraulic stimulation. The possibility of fracturing tests 
for the Haldimand project also applies to Tar Point.

Pétrolia obtained a permit from the MRNF to perform an 
injectivity test in fall 2011. This test will provide useful 
information if a fracturing program is required in the  
future. Work will also be performed in fall 2011 to modify 
the tubing in the wells.

As with the Haldimand property, no decision has yet been 
made regarding fracturing tests for Tar Point, which if 
conducted, will depend on the results of the analyses, the 
availability of the required equipment, and the government 
approval process.
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The Bourque project is very important to Pétrolia in view 
of the size of the potential discoveries and the interest that 
would be raised in the Company’s other properties in the 
Gaspé region where similar geological conditions prevail. 
The targets in question are conventional in nature. 

A 3D seismic survey undertaken by Pétrolia in 2008 suggests 
the presence of a reef complex in the West Point Formation, 
an older geological formation than York River. This type 
of trap can store considerable quantities of hydrocarbons. 
The first trap is a pinnacle reef, the same as the Leduc reef 
in Alberta, in which giant oilfields have been discovered, 
marking a turning point for oil and gas exploration in  
that province. The second structure is a barrier reef.

8.3.1 Objectives

The property’s two structures have completed the early 
exploration stages and reached the drilling stage. Pétrolia 
would like to drill a borehole on each of these targets as 
soon as possible. The drilling programs were submitted at 
the end of the fiscal year to the MRNF and were still under 
study at the time of writing.

Located 70 kilometres west of Gaspé City, the Bourque 
project offers an opportunity to discover a significant 
deposit. The total depth of the targets ranges from 2,000  
to 3,200 metres. This project can also generate significant 
economic spinoffs associated with raw material processing 
in an economically depressed region.

8.3.2 Studies and projects

The Bourque No. 1 and No. 2 drilling program was based 
on the recommendations of the supplemental impact study 
published by New York State’s Department of Environmental 
Conservation. According to the new regulations of the 
Environment Quality Act, these conventional wells are not 
affected by the new approval procedures for strategic  
environmental assessment. This works in our favour in 
terms of short-term drilling.

8.3.3 Search for partners

Over the last quarter, Pétrolia continued to search for a 
partner, which Management considers preferable for this 
project. That said, the Company may decide to drill alone.

8.4 Anticosti Island

Anticosti Island meets the four criteria sought in a petroleum 
system, namely a highly productive source rock favourable 
to the production of petroleum, a good quality reservoir, 
impermeable cap rock, and the presence of numerous 
large-scale traps. This vast territory offers a number  
of potential resource plays. 

8.4.1 Shale oil

The core sample extracted from the shale in summer 2010  
at the Macasty Formation (Pétrolia Corridor Chaloupe No. 1 
well) has created a new potential oil play on Anticosti Island. 
The analyses performed by a laboratory in Weatherford, 
Houston, and by Schlumberger Canada confirm that  
the shales contain considerable quantities of oil and that  
the formation has the characteristics required to develop 
this potential oil play, which is sparking attention all over 
the world.

On June 29, Pétrolia unveiled the estimate of the Macasty 
shale in-place oil reserves conducted by Sproule Associates 
Limited of Calgary. Sproule’s best estimate for the total 
volume of initially-in-place oil in the shale is 30.9 billion 
barrels. There is a 10% probability that this volume is equal 
to or greater than 48.2 billion barrels (high estimate) and  
a 90% probability that it amounts to at least 19.8 billion 
barrels. The evaluation focuses on the Macasty shales where 
Pétrolia’s interests cover more than 6,070 km2.
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8.4.2 Conventional targets

Conventional structural exploration has been carried out  
on the island since 1960 but to date has yielded no con-
clusive results. 

Semi-conventional fault trough exploration was more 
recently conducted by Shell, Hydro-Québec and Corridor 
Resources Inc. This type of exploration, known in industry 
jargon as “sags,” was very successful in the Appalachian 
Basin (Ontario and New York State). While exploration  
by Pétrolia and Corridor in 2010 failed to meet expectations 
in terms of discoveries, it did confirm the existence of 
reservoirs associated with fault troughs (production of 
5,000 barrels of salt water per day in the Pétrolia Corridor 
Saumon No. 1 well).

8.4.3 Search for partners

The exploration program on Anticosti Island, particularly 
with regard to the Macasty shales, is currently in the early 
stage. More work will be required to determine the potential 
for commercial recovery of shale resources before the 
development phase can be contemplated. In the second half 
of the year ended September 30, 2011, the Company prepared 
a development plan, scheduled to begin implementation 
next year.

Developing Anticosti Island will require significant capital. 
Finding partners with the requisite financial and technical 
resources is therefore a priority. Pétrolia is assessing its 
options in the best interests of its shareholders.

The table below summarizes Sproule’s estimate:

Estimates of total petroleum initially-in-place1  
Macasty shale, Anticosti Island, Quebec 

at June 1, 2011

Classification
Pétrolia 
interests 

Low estimate 
(P-90)3 

Billions of BOE6

Best estimate 
(P-50)4  

Billions of BOE6

High estimate 
(P-10)5  

Billions of BOE6

Undiscovered 
petroleum  

initially-in-place2 

Pétrolia’s gross 
interests

19.8 30.9 48.2

Pétrolia’s net  
interests

9.1 14.1 22.0

1. The petroleum initially in place is the amount of petroleum estimated to exist originally naturally in a shale formation. 
This includes the estimated quantities that, on a given date, are contained in known accumulations prior to production, 
plus estimated quantities in accumulations yet to be discovered.

2. Undiscovered petroleum initially in place (equivalent to undiscovered resources) are those quantities of petroleum 
that are estimated, on a given date, to be contained in accumulations yet to be discovered. The recoverable portion of 
undiscovered petroleum initially in place is referred to as prospective resources, the remainder as unrecoverable. Undis-
covered resources carry risks: there is no certainty that any portion of these resources will be discovered. A recovery 
project cannot be defined for this volume of undiscovered petroleum initially-in-place at this time. There is no certainty 
that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the resources.

3. The probability that the quantity actually in place is equal to or greater than the estimate is 90%.

4. The probability that the quantity actually in place is equal to or greater than the estimate is 50%.

5. The probability that the quantity actually in place is equal to or greater than the estimate is 10%.

6. BOE – barrel of oil equivalent. The use of the oil-equivalent unit reflects the uncertainty of hydrocarbon type  
across the island.
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Pétrolia has confirmed that as a private-sector partner,  
it will support the work of the Université Laval’s Anticosti 
Chair. A project has been developed to determine the impact 
of oil operations on the behaviour of white-tailed deer, an 
important economic and tourism resource for Anticosti 
Island. The Anticosti Chair has received confirmation from 
the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council  
of Canada (NSERC) that its budget will be renewed. Pétrolia 
is proud to be associated with the Anticosti Chair’s work. 
This research will provide the knowledge needed to improve 
practices and promote eco-friendly development. Our 
contribution ($200,000 over five years) attests to the 
Company’s engagement in the communities in which  
it operates.

8.5 Other properties

As in recent quarters, Pétrolia focused on the Haldimand 
and Anticosti projects. As such, while sufficient to meet its 
obligations, the Company’s activities on its other properties 
were limited. 

Organic matter analyses were conducted on field samples 
from all of its properties in order to enhance Pétrolia’s 
knowledge of the maturity and shale oil potential of rocks 
in the Gaspé region. Weatherford was retained to carry out 
this work. The results are now known and will be incorpo-
rated into the other data.

A geochemical project using the same approach as the 
Haldimand survey was undertaken last winter covering 
portions of the Gaspésia, Edgar and Marcel-Tremblay  
properties. The results are currently being interpreted.

A seismic program has been prepared to identify a drilling 
target on a potential trap discovered during a 2008 survey. 
The program will be carried out in 2012. Given that thermal 
maturity studies indicate that gas is more likely to be 
discovered in this target, the Company has made it a 
priority to develop the Haldimand property. However,  
the potential emergence of gas projects in the region could 
cause the Company to rethink its priorities and rekindle 
interest in a drilling project in the Gaspésia property. 

With regards to the Dalhousie property in New Brunswick, 
there have been no significant developments given an 
economic and political climate that makes the natural gas 
market less appealing in that province. The project’s status 
has therefore not changed. Pétrolia will continue monitoring 
the situation in New Brunswick.

9. Modification of the legislative  
and regulatory framework

In the past year, the Government of Quebec has made  
several changes to the legislative and regulatory framework 
for oil and gas production. Consequently, application  
processing by government authorities will take longer.

The adoption of Bill 18, an Act to limit oil and gas activities, 
has introduced three changes aimed at:

•	 banning	oil	and	gas	activity	on	islands	in	the	river	
and estuary portion of the St. Lawrence;

•	 exempting	holders	of	exploration	permits	from	 
performing the work required under the Mining Act 
and submitting a report to the Ministry until  
June 13, 2014;

•	 extending	the	validity	of	all	exploration	permits	 
in Quebec for the same period as the moratorium. 

For Pétrolia, the adoption of Bill 18 suspends some of its 
obligations for up to three years and extends the validity 
of all its permits in Québec by the same amount of time. 
However, Pétrolia plans to continue its activities regardless 
of the moratorium.

In addition, the ministère du Développement durable, 
de l’Environnement et des Parcs (MDDEP) amended the 
Regulation respecting the application of the Environment 
Quality Act. As a result, an environmental authorization 
certificate is required for all shale drilling and fracking 
operations. The amendment also requires companies to hold 
a public consultation before applying for a certificate for 
this type of work.

Lastly, concerning strategic environmental assessments, 
the MDDEP has adopted a regulation aimed at providing  
information on shale drilling and fracking operations. 
These provisions have little impact on the Company, which 
in the near term does not have any projects affected by 
these regulatory amendments. However, since future 
projects may be affected, the Company will plan for  
the additional time constraints that may be imposed  
by this new regulation. 
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Operating results and cash position

In fiscal 2011, the Company’s revenues consisted of interest 
income on short-term investments of $133,587, compared 
with $24,321 for fiscal 2010, and project management 
income of $44,854, compared to $1,781 last year. Revenues 
from oil reservoir evaluations stood at $107,021, against 
$109,738 in 2010 and are recorded as a reduction in 
deferred exploration expenses.

The increase in interest income stems from the increase in 
cash flow, achieved as a result of the Québénergie transaction, 
which generated an inflow of $6,690,000, as well as the 
exercise of warrants and options totalling $4,804,148. 

As at September 30, 2011, the Company had cash and  
cash equivalents of $8,151,034 and working capital  
of $10,052,854.

For fiscal 2011, the Company recorded a profit of 
$2,160,668, compared to a loss of $1,358,529 in 2010, 
primarily due to a gain on the disposal of interests in  
some of its licences.

Management believes that it has sufficient cash to meet its 
current obligations. For its financial needs, the Company 
can rely on its ability to raise capital through public 
offerings and negotiated private placements.

Analysis of operating and administrative expenses

Operating and administrative expenses rose $501,154, 
mainly due to an increase in exploration activities.

The main differences in the operating and administrative 
expenses are:

•	 Stock-based	compensation:	1,495,000	options	valued	
at $500,208 were granted in 2011, as compared to 
270,000 options in 2010 for a value of $190,725.

•	 Salaries	and	benefits:	Operations-related	payroll	fell	
slightly. Administrative staff was hired to respond  
to the needs of the community and government 
authorities.

•	 Loan	interest:	Interest	charges	of	$89,201	were	paid	
on a loan taken out to finance tax credits receivable 
for 2010.

•	 Rent:	Lease	expenses	rose	in	2011	mainly	due	 
to the expansion of the Québec City offices.

Management analysis  of financial information

Selected annual information 

   2011 2010 2009
   $ $ $

Revenue   178,441 26,102 204,644
Net earnings (net loss)   2,160,668 (1,358,529) (854,911)
Basic net earnings (net loss) per share  0.042 (0.028) (0.021)
Diluted net earnings (net loss) per share  0.041 (0.028) (0.021)
Total assets   40,536,750 30,994,857 24,024,439
Dividend per share   N/A N/A N/A
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Revenue essentially consists of interest earned for each quarter. Fourth quarter revenue was negative mainly due to  
the reclassification of petroleum reserve assessment income of the first three quarters of 2010, which was charged against 
the deferred exploration expense. General and administrative expenses were fairly stable from quarter to quarter.  
The main changes in quarterly losses or earnings are explained as follows: 

2009 – December  Loss recorded in connection with a change in fair value of a $458,500 investment and a gain  
on disposal of $395,163 in shares;

2010 – March Recognition of stock-based compensation expense of $183,600;

2010 – December  Recognition of stock-based compensation expense of $82,800 and a $5,158,607 gain on disposal  
of interest in certain licences;

2011 – February Recognition of stock-based compensation expense of $71,400;

2011 – May Recognition of stock-based compensation expense of $160,750;

2011 – September  Restatement of all stock-based compensation for the year using the graded vested method;  
this restatement had a non-monetary impact of $185,258.

Summary of quarterly results

 2011 2010 2009
  September June March  December September June March  December

  $ $ $  $ $ $ $  $

          

Revenue  75,160 51,373 45,386  6,522 (46,658) 47,342 6,646  18,772

Net earnings   
(net loss)  (443,251) (488,636) (384,846)  3,477,401 (330,057) (244,544) (402,692)  (381,236)

Net earnings   
(net loss)  
per share

Basic  (0.010) (0.010) (0.008)  0.0695 (0.0068) (0.0053) (0.0092)  (0.0092)

Diluted  (0.010) (0.010) (0.008)  0.0571 (0.0068) (0.0053) (0.0092)   (0.0092)
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Related-party transactions

The Company entered into transactions with two companies whose  
main officer, holding a minority interest, is also a director of Pétrolia:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance sheet:   
Deferred exploration expenses    – 51,532

Statement of income:   
Salaries and benefits    – 938
Other expenses    9,426 11,847

As at September 30, 2011, an amount of $37,500 is due from these companies  
(2010 – $35,915).

The Company entered into transactions with a director who acts  
as a consultant for the Company:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance sheet:   
Deferred exploration expenses    3,469 22,905

The balance due to this director is $0 as at September 30, 2011 (2010 – $0). 

The Company entered into the following transactions with a company  
whose director also sits on Pétrolia’s board:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Statement of income:  
Salaries and benefits    20,438 101,724
Office supplies    1,208 2,600
Telecommunications    – 5,322

The balance due from this company as at September 30, 2011 is $2,516  
(2010 – balance due of $161).

The Company entered into the following transactions with a close relative  
of Management, who provided services to the Company: 

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance sheet:  
Tangible fixed assets    49,021 –

These transactions occurred in the normal course of business and are valued  
at the exchange value, which is the amount of the established consideration  
accepted by the related parties.
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Under the terms of exploration licences granted by Quebec’s Ministry of Natural Resources and Wildlife and 
New Brunswick’s Ministry of Natural Resources, the Company has agreed to pay fees in the amount of $401,000  
between now and 2013. The minimum payments due during the upcoming fiscal years are as follows:

    2012 2013
    $ $

     200,500 200,500

In addition, the Company must undertake work on its properties in Quebec on a yearly basis, for which the minimum costs 
vary with the age of the licences; the cost is $0.50 per hectare for the first year of the licence and increases annually by 
$0.50, ultimately reaching $2.50 per hectare as of the fifth year. The minimum work to be initiated is $586,485 in 2012, 
$653,983 in 2013 and $875,311 in 2014.

The adoption of Bill 18 in Quebec suspends some of these statutory work obligations for up to three years while at the same 
time extending the validity of all the licences for the same period. Pétrolia may, however, still continue its activities despite 
the suspended obligation. 

The Company has signed leases with four companies for the rental of offices and a house until 2016. The balance of  
the commitments under these leases, excluding escalation clauses, is $1,284,545 of which $5,000 is payable to a company  
in which a director holds a minority interest.

The minimum payments required in the coming years are as follows:

   2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
   $ $ $ $ $

   275,306 275,247 275,247 275,247 183,498
 

The Company has undertaken to support the renewal of the NSERC-Anticosti Forest Products Industrial Research Chair  
by contributing $200,000 over a 5-year period. A portion of these costs could potentially be assumed by a partner.

The minimum payments due over the next five years are as follows:

   2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
   $ $ $ $ $

   40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000
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Fourth quarter

The fourth quarter closed with a loss of $443,251  
($0.01 per share). Revenue for the quarter was $75,160.

Future accounting standards

IFRS conveRgence

InteRnatIonal FInancIal RepoRtIng StandaRdS

Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) has confirmed 
that effective January 1, 2011, International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) will replace Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for publicly  
accountable enterprises. IFRS therefore apply to fiscal  
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

Accordingly, the Company expects that its first interim 
financial statements presented in accordance with IFRS  
will be for the three-month period ended December 31,  
2011, and its first annual financial statements presented  
in accordance with IFRS will be for the year ending  
September 30, 2012. IFRS uses a conceptual framework 
similar to Canadian GAAP, but there are significant  
differences in recognition, measurement, presentation,  
and disclosure requirements.

The standard-setting bodies that promulgate Canadian 
GAAP and the IFRS have significant ongoing projects  
that could affect the ultimate differences between Canadian 
GAAP and IFRS and their impact on the Company’s financial 
reports in future years. The future impact of IFRS will  
also depend on the particular circumstances prevailing  
in those years.

Training

The personnel assigned to the convergence with IFRS have 
undergone and continue to receive training by the Quebec 
Order of Chartered Accountants. Since modifications are 
expected to IFRS in 2011, all modifications that could affect 
the Company will have to be monitored.

Affected accounting standards

An in-depth analysis of the accounting standards affected 
by the convergence to IFRS was undertaken in fiscal 
2010-2011. In general, considerable effort will have to be 
put into the presentation of financial statements since  
IFRS require more disclosures.

The Company has identified the following list of areas 
where the changeover could impact the Company’s financial 
statements. This list of items should not be seen as 
exhaustive; its aim is to highlight the areas the Company 
considers most important; however, the analysis of the 
modifications has not been completed, and the choice of 
accounting standards under IFRS, if any, has not been 
determined. The standard-setting bodies that promulgate 
Canadian GAAP and the IFRS have significant ongoing 
projects that could affect the ultimate differences between 
Canadian GAAP and IFRS and their impact on the 
Company’s financial reports in future years. The following 
list covers standards that exist under Canadian GAAP and 
IFRS. For now, however, the Company is unable to reliably 
quantify the expected impact of these differences on  
its financial statements. The standards are as follows:

First-time adoption (IFRS 1) 

IFRS 1 provides guidance to entities on the general approach 
to be taken when first adopting IFRS. The underlying 
principle of IFRS 1 is retrospective application of IFRS 
standards in force at the date an entity first reports using 
IFRS. IFRS 1 acknowledges that full retrospective 
application may not be practical or appropriate in all 
situations and prescribes:

•	 exemptions	from	specific	IFRS	in	preparing	 
the Company’s opening balance sheet; and

•	 exceptions	to	retrospective	application	of	 
certain IFRS. 

Additionally, to ensure that the financial statements contain 
high-quality information that is transparent to users, IFRS 1 
contains disclosure requirements to highlight changes 
made to financial statement items following convergence  
of financial statements with IFRS.

The following table presents some of the main accounting 
differences that we believe will have an impact on the 
recognition and evaluation of certain balance sheet and 
income statement items. Unless otherwise indicated, all 
accounting differences will be applied retrospectively.
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Accounting item
Main differences in  

accounting treatment
Potential impact

Provisions and contingent liabilities IFRS require the recording of a 
provision if it is more likely than not 
that an outflow of resources will be 
necessary to settle the obligation,  
while Canadian GAAP use a higher 
threshold. 

IFRS also require that a provision be 
recorded in cases of onerous contracts, 
while according to GAAP, such a 
liability need only be recognized in 
certain situations.

Opening balance sheet and after  
the transition: We have not finished our 
evaluation. It is possible that additional 
provisions will be recorded under IFRS.

Income taxes The various accounting changes under 
IFRS will also affect the corresponding 
deferred tax asset or liability, unless  
a reduction of value is required.

The tax consequences of a transaction 
recorded in other comprehensive 
income or directly in shareholders’ 
equity during previous periods must 
be recorded directly in other 
comprehensive income or directly in 
shareholders’ equity (“retrospective 
research”). According to Canadian 
GAAP, any subsequent variation of 
deferred taxes is charged against 
earnings.

Opening balance sheet: No significant 
impact is expected. No short-term 
deferred taxes.

After the transition: The impact will 
depend on the net effect of all of the 
differences between the accounting 
methods.

Opening balance sheet: No significant 
impact is expected on overall 
shareholders’ equity.

After the transition: The impact on 
earnings will depend on the extent  
of the variations in deferred taxes  
that will be recorded in other 
comprehensive income or directly  
in shareholders’ equity.

Stock-based compensation IFRS requires that expected 
cancellations be taken into account 
when recording stock-based 
compensation cost at the grant date 
rather than recognize the cancellation 
when it occurs. For stock options with 
graded vesting, IFRS requires that 
each instalment be measured and 
recognized separately, as each 
instalment has a different vesting 
period, and the fair value of each  
will therefore be different.

Opening balance sheet: No significant 
impact.

After the transition: The impact will 
depend on the method of granting 
stock options.
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Steps in the conversion process

The Company has adopted the four-step approach presented 
below and has generally completed the first three steps.

First step  

Consists of the initial evaluation, i.e. identifying the 
differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS, as well as 
conducting an initial analysis of IFRS 1—regarding 
exceptions for the changeover to IFRS.

Second step

Consists of the detailed evaluation, and includes the 
prioritization of accounting issues, the quantification  
of the impact of the conversion to IFRS, and examination 
and approval of the accounting principles selected. 

third step

Design: The accounting system and its internal controls  
are simple since the Company is in the exploration phase 
and should, seeing as no major challenges are anticipated, 
be able to operate its accounting systems according to IFRS. 
That said, some Excel spreadsheets will need to be modified 
so as to support the changes rendered necessary by  
the convergence. 

The fourth implementation phase is underway, and we are 
dedicating significant energy to preparing IFRS financial 
statement models. According to the provisions of IFRS 1, 
we are required to disclose not only comparative data, but 
also, during the year in which IFRS are adopted, the opening 
balance sheet at the start of the comparative period.

Management is in the process of populating the comparative 
information into the financial statements and notes so that 
the Company is prepared to produce and file the IFRS 
financial statements.

We feel that the Company will be in a position to prepare  
an interim financial report that complies with IAS 34 for 
the quarter ending December 31, 2011.

 

Retrospective application (IFRS 1)

•	 IFRS	1	sets	the	stage	for	the	transition	from	
Canadian GAAP to IFRS. The standard sets out  
the procedures that a first-time adopter must follow 
as a result of measurement and reporting differences 
that arise as a result of the transition from GAAP  
to IFRS. The main principle of IFRS 1 is that a first 
time adopter must present its first IFRS financial 
statements using IFRSs which are effective at the end 
of the first IFRS reporting period, September 30, 2012 
for the Company. Except for certain exceptions and 
exemptions discussed below, a retrospective application 
of IFRS is required as if the Company had always 
accounted and reported under this framework.

•	 The	guidance	identifies	nineteen	optional	exemptions	
that a “first-time adopter” may elect to not apply 
IFRS on a retroactive basis. These exemptions apply 
to items such as business combinations, employee 
benefits, cumulative translation differences, borrow-
ing costs, share-based payment transactions, and fair 
value or revaluation as deemed cost. A number of  
the optional exemptions are beyond the Company’s 
current operations. In addition to the optional 
exemptions, IFRS 1 contains certain mandatory 
exceptions to the retroactive application of IFRS 
including derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities, hedge accounting, revisions to accounting 
estimates, and non-controlling interest.

The Company is in the process of finalizing its decisions, 
but anticipates applying the changes as follows:

Share-based payments (IFRS 2)

•	 A	first-time	adopter	is	encouraged,	but	not	required,	
to apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were 
granted on or before November 7, 2002. A first-time 
adopter is also encouraged, but not required, to apply 
IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were granted after 
November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of (a) 
the date of transition to IFRSs and (b) January 1, 2005.

•	 The	Company	has	elected	to	avail	itself	of	this	
exemption and apply IFRS for all equity instruments 
granted after November 7, 2002 that have vested.  
As a result of this election, at the transition date, the 
Company will restate the historical Canadian GAAP 
share-based compensation expenses, resulting in a 
reclassification of contributed surplus to share capital.
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sequentially acquired, be measured and recognized 
on the basis of the valuation of each equity acquisition. 
Under the Company’s current policy, the valuation is 
determined at the outset of the option grant. IFRS 2 
also requires that expected forfeitures be accounted 
for in the recognition of the compensation cost, 
whereas currently, forfeitures are recognized  
when they occur.

Business combinations (IFRS 3)

•	 A	first-time	adopter	may	elect	to	apply	IFRS	3	Business	
Combination retrospectively to past business combina-
tions that occurred before the transition date to IFRS.

•	 The	Company	has	not	been	involved	in	any	significant	
business acquisitions and therefore will elect not  
to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 to past business  
combinations.

deemed cost (IFRS 1)

•	 IFRS	1	permits	an	entity	to	measure	a	tangible	fixed	
asset at the date of transition to IFRSs at its fair 
value and use that fair value as its deemed cost at 
that date.

•	 The	Company	has	not	elected	to	use	this	exemption	as	
it believes that the cost method, currently employed, 
provides more reliable and relevant information.

exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources (IFRS 6)

•	 Under	IFRS,	the	Company	would	be	required	to	
develop an accounting policy to specifically and con-
sistently identify which expenditures on exploration 
and evaluation activities will be recorded as assets. 
Unlike IFRS, Canadian GAAP indicates that explora-
tion costs may initially be capitalized if the Company 
considers that such costs have the characteristics of 
tangible fixed assets. 

•	 Under	IFRS,	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	shall	
be classified as either tangible or intangible according 
to the nature of the assets acquired.

•	 Other	than	classification	between	tangible	and	intan-
gible assets, the Company believes that the changes 
of this policy will have no impact on the financial 
statements on the changeover date and in subsequent 
years as the Company will continue to use the cost 
model methodology.

explanation of changes and impacts on financial statement  
line items (IFRS 1)

In accordance with the Final Materials and IFRS 1, the 
Company will be required to include reconciliations and  
the transition opening statement of financial position in  
its first interim financial report and the annual financial 
statements. This disclosure is not required in the second 
and third interim financial rules under the continuous 
disclosure rules unless there has been a change in 
accounting policy. IFRS requires only a statement of cash 
flows for the year to date period and the corresponding 
period, whereas current Canadian GAAP requires issuers  
to present a cash flow statement for each interim period  
as well as for the year-to-date results. The amendments as 
reflected in the Final Materials contemplate this change  
and only require a cash flow statement for the year  
to date periods.

Internal controls

The Company’s signing officers have the responsibility of 
ensuring that there are processes allowing them to have the 
necessary knowledge in support of the declarations made in 
the certifications, more specifically that the documents on 
SEDAR are reliable. The officers will ensure that once the 
convergence process is completed, they will still be able to 
sign their certifications. 

Impact on commercial activities

The Company’s business processes are simple, and  
no significant challenge is expected in order to operate 
according to IFRS. The Company has few transactions in 
foreign currencies and has no long-term debt or capital 
obligations. The Company does not expect that the IFRS 
will change these processes when it completes flow-through 
private placements. The Company has no compensation 
plan that will be affected by the IFRS. The stock option plan 
is not affected by financial ratios or objectives. 

Business processes will be monitored during the 2010–2011 
fiscal year in order to detect impacts not identified during 
our initial analysis. No significant impact has materialized 
to date. 
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Financial instrument disclosure

Risk management policy

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities expose it  
to various risks. The following analysis provides an 
assessment of the risks as at September 30, 2011,  
the balance sheet date:

Credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company 
to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents 
and accounts receivable. The Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents are held with or issued by first-class financial 
institutions. Receivables mostly represent sums due from 
the federal and provincial governments and from partners. 
Therefore, Management considers the risk of non-performance 
on these instruments as minimal.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or do so 
only at excessive cost. The Company finances its growth 
through the issuance of shares and the sale of interests in 
some of its oil assets. One of Management’s main financial 
objectives is to maintain an optimal level of liquidity by 
actively managing the exploration work to be performed. 
Considering the liquid resources at the Company’s disposal, 
Management feels that the Company’s exposure to liquidity 
risk is low.

All of the Company’s financial liabilities have a maturity  
of less than one year.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result  
of changes in market conditions. There are three types  
of market risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, and other 
price risks.

The Company is exposed to two of these risks: interest rate 
risk and other price risks.

a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the impact of interest rate 
fluctuations on the value of long-term investments and debt.

Investments bear interest at a fixed rate and thus expose 
the Company to the risk of variations in the fair value 
caused by interest rate fluctuations. At September 30, 2011, 
a 1% move in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, would have affected the net gain by $39,480.

The Company has a variable-rate bank loan. Consequently, 
it incurs interest rate risk based on fluctuations in the 
prime rate. At September 30, 2011, a 1% move in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have 
affected the net gain by $16,399.

Maximum credit risk exposure:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Cash    695,699 448,055
Money market fund    1,004 1,000
Guaranteed investment certificates   8,384,331 2,254,331
Receivables   4,617,371 2,920,900

     13,698,405 5,624,286
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Financial instruments measured at amortized cost are 
initially recognized at fair value and then subsequently 
at amortized cost with gains and losses recognized in the 
statement of income the period in which the gain or loss 
occurs. Changes in the fair value of financial instruments 
classified as held for trading are recorded in the statement 
of income in the period in which the change takes place.

Fair value

The fair value of investments is assessed in the following 
manner:

Guaranteed investment certificates: The cost corresponds  
to the fair value considering their recent issuance.

Money market fund: The cost corresponds to the fair value 
because of their short-term maturity date.

For long-term debt, the book value approximates their fair 
value because of the variable interest rate on the debt.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are classified and valued as follows:

Financial assets / liabilities Category Valuation

Cash and cash equivalents Held for trading Fair value

Receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Investments Held for trading Fair value

Payables and accrued expenses Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Loan Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

B) other price risks

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the price of oil 
and gas, as the price influences the potential profitability of 
the Company’s oil and gas properties and therefore affects 
its exploration program and any decision whether to 
proceed with production.

classification of financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified into one of the 
following five categories: held for trading, held to maturity, 
loans and receivables, available for sale, or other financial 
liabilities. The classification determines the accounting 
treatment of the instruments. The classification is 
determined by the Company when the financial instrument 
is initially recorded based on its underlying purpose.
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The fair value of financial instruments is summarized as follows:

  2011 2010
  Book Fair Book Fair 
  value value value value 
  $ $ $ $

Financial     
assets held for trading:     
Cash and cash equivalents  8,151,034 8,151,034 1,949,055 1,949,055
Investments  930,000 930,000 754,331 754,331
     
Loans and receivables:     
Receivables  4,617,371 4,617,371 2,920,900 2,920,900
     
Other financial liabilities:     
Payables and accrued expenses  1,469,518 1,469,518 822,339 822,339
Loan  2,243,310 2,243,310 2,243,310 2,243,310

Fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the balance 
sheet are classified using a fair value hierarchy that  
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making  
the measurements.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – Valuation based on unadjusted quoted prices  
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities:  
Level 1 consists of cash;

Level 2 – Valuation techniques using inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices). Cash equivalents and investments are classified  
in Level 2.

Level 3 – Valuation techniques using inputs that are not 
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable  
market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial instru-
ment is classified in the lowest level of the hierarchy for 
which a significant input has been considered in measuring 
fair value. 

For the fiscal year, no financial assets were transferred 
between levels 1 and 2.



 
P

ét
ro

lia
 
3

2
  

   
 

 
 

M
a

n
a

g
em

en
t 

d
is

cu
ss

io
n

 a
n

d
 a

n
a

ly
si

s

   Geology Geophysical Drilling Analysis Completion General Oil Options Total 
    surveys    expenses reservoir   
         evaluation  

   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Anticosti   104,541 22,977 3,832,065 – – 1,163 – 507 3,961,253

Gastonguay   26,610 – 329 32 – – – – 26,971

Gaspésia 
Marcel-Tremblay 
Edgar   54,472 1,347 – – – 80 – – 55,899

           

Gaspé   56,286 27,926 2,645 520 694 24,775 – 5,432 118,278

Bourque   16,563 69,033 129,578 – – 742 – – 215,916

Haldimand   112,827 109,965 1,404,465 5,347 1,281,681 14,836 123,531 – 3,052,652

Tar Point   64,389 1,654 3,106,864 1,123 1,347,279 579 – – 4,521,888

Dalhousie   21,106 3,676 260 – – 177 – 1,186 26,405

   456,794 236,578 8,476,206 7,022 2,629,654 42,352 123,531 7,125 11,979,262

Additional information

a) Supplemental documents

Certain supplemental documents, including prior 
management reports and press releases, are available  
at www.sedar.com or on Pétrolia’s website at  
www.petroliagaz.com. 

b) Regulation 51-102 Section 5.2 

Deferred exploration expenses for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2011, are detailed as follows:

 Geology Geophysical Drilling Analysis Completion General Oil Options Resource Site Total 
  Surveys    expenses reservoir  evaluation maintenance 
       evaluation  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Anticosti 118,904 14,107 757,476 2,448 105 34,735 – 11,816 97,057 – 1,036,648

Gastonguay 548 – – – – 540 – 77 – – 1,165

Gaspésia 
Marcel-Tremblay 
Edgar 173,755 804 – – – 24,115 – 160 – – 198,834

           

Gaspé 25,147 52,109 50,142 20 5,316 47,287 – 5,770 – – 185,791

Bourque 72,563 2,319 9,225 – – 4,113 – 616 – – 88,836

Haldimand 608,676 492,850 263,469 595 49,498 113,315 57 337 8,715 – 220,273 1,814,728

Tar Point 29,776 4,237 153,942 – 5,285 4,329 – 12,910 – 46,172 256,651

Dalhousie 4,523 7,463 7,216 40 – 11,283 – 1,261 – – 31,786

 1,033,892 573,889 1,241,470 3,103 60,204 239,717 57,337 41,325 97,057 266,445 3,614,439

Deferred exploration expenses for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 are detailed as follows:
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c) Regulation 51-102 Section 5.3

Information on shares issued and stock options as at December 5, 2011:

Common shares: 54,844,198 shares have been issued and are outstanding. 

Stock options outstanding: The stock options granted to directors, members of senior management,  
employees and service providers are as follows:

•	 21,250	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.74	per	share	until	May	21,	2012;

•	 547,500	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.40	per	share	until	June	21,	2012;

•	 400,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.60	per	share	until	February	12,	2013;

•	 125,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.60	per	share	until	March	3,	2013;

•	 427,500	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$1.25	per	share	until	July	7,	2013;

•	 120,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.74	per	share	until	May	21,	2014;

•	 270,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.89	per	share	until	February	25,	2015;

•	 790,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$0.50	per	share	until	December	8,	2015;

•	 75,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$1.31	per	share	until	February	25,	2016;

•	 500,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$1.69	per	share	until	May	18,	2016;

•	 1,266,000	options	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$1.52	per	share	until	December	4,	2016.

Management’s responsibility for financial information

Management is responsible for Pétrolia’s financial statements, which have been approved by the board of directors on 
recommendation of the audit committee. The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited by the Company’s auditors. Financial statements  
are not precise since they include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such 
amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects. 

Rimouski, December 5, 2011

On behalf of the Board

André Proulx, president of the Company
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The criteria selected by Pétrolia for its drilling  
programs exceed current standards.
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To the shareholders of Pétrolia Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements  
of Pétrolia Inc., which comprise the balance sheets as at 
September 30, 2011 and 2010, and the statements of income 
and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, deferred 
exploration expenses and cash flows for the years then 
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility  
for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, 
and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due  
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits  
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating  
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly,  
in all material respects, the financial position of Pétrolia Inc. 
as at September 30, 2011 and 2010 and the results of  
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended  
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

Mallette1 

LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Rimouski, Canada

December 5, 2011  

1 CA auditor permit No. 8832

Independent auditor’s report
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As at September 30   2011 2010
    $ $

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents    8,151,034 1,949,055
Receivables (Note 6)    4,617,371 2,920,900
Inventories    61,619 –
Prepaid expenses    141,158 70,372
Investments collectable during the next fiscal year (Note 7)   930,000 754,331

     13,901,182 5,694,658
Tangible fixed assets (Note 8)    931,779 213,159
Oil and gas properties (Note 9)    3,148,005 3,852,629
Deferred exploration expenses (Note 10)   22,555,784 21,234,411

     40,536,750 30,994,857

LIABILITIES  

Current liabilities  
Payables and accrued expenses    1,469,518 822,339
Loan (Note 11)    2,243,310 2,243,310
Provision for future site restoration (Note 12)   135,500 –
     3,848,328 3,065,649

Deferred lease incentives     112,273 –
Provision for future site restoration (Note 12)   233,678 –
Future income taxes (Note 14)   2,239,130 1,323,583
     2,585,081 1,323,583
    6,433,409 4,389,232

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
Capital stock (Note 13)    33,314,786 28,288,874
Contributed surplus – Stock options   1,491,320 1,300,615
Contributed surplus – Expired stock options   903,797 783,366
Deficit    (1,606,562) (3,767,230)
  
    34,103,341 26,605,625

     40,536,750 30,994,857

Agreements, commitments and contingencies (Notes 9, 15 and 16)

On behalf of the Board

(signed) (signed)

André Proulx, Director  Jacques L. Drouin, Director

Balance sheet
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Statement of income and comprehensive income

Fiscal year ended September 30   2011 2010
    $ $

REVENUE  
Project management    44,854 1,781
Interest income   133,587 24,321

    178,441 26,102

OPERATING COSTS  
Administrative expenses (Appendix A)   2,261,057 1,759,903
General expenses (Appendix B)   – –

    2,261,057 1,759,903

LOSS BEFORE OTHER ITEMS AND INCOME TAXES   (2,082,616) (1,733,801)

OTHER ITEMS  
Change in the fair value of financial assets designated  
 as held for trading     – (59,603)
Gain on disposal of interest in certain licences     5,158,607 –

GAIN (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES   3,075,991 (1,793,404)
Future income taxes (Note 14)   915,323 (434,875)

NET GAIN (NET LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    2,160,668 (1,358,529)

BASIC NET GAIN (NET LOSS) PER SHARE    0.042 (0.028)

DILUTED NET GAIN (NET LOSS) PER SHARE    0.041 (0.028)
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 Capital stock Contributed surplus  

    Stock Expired    
    options stock 
     options Deficit Total
  Number $ $ $ $ $

BALANCE AS  
AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2009 40,914,219 21,674,783 1,957,120 225,721 (2,408,701) 21,448,923

ISSUED DURING  
THE FISCAL YEAR     
Cash 7,960,568 7,129,910 – – – 7,129,910

Stock options exercised 1,192,500 806,585 (289,585) – – 517,000

SHARE ISSUANCE COSTS     
Future income taxes – (844,909) – – – (844,909)

Others – (477,495) – – – (477,495)

OTHER ACTIVITIES      
Stock-based compensation – – 190,725 – – 190 725

Expired stock options – – (162,675) 162,675 – –

Expired broker warrants – – (394,970) 394,970 – –

Net loss – – – – (1,358,529) (1,358,529)

BALANCE AS  
AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2010 50,067,287 28,288,874 1,300,615 783,366 (3,767,230) 26,605,625

ISSUED DURING  
THE FISCAL YEAR
Debt settlement 75,000 33,750 – – – 33,750

Warrants exercised 3,878,440 4,505,472 – – – 4,505,472

Stock options exercised 558,750 487,748 (189,072) – – 298,676

SHARE ISSUANCE COSTS     
Future income taxes – (224) – – – (224)

Others – (834) – – – (834)

OTHER ACTIVITIES      
Stock-based compensation – – 500,208 – – 500,208

Expired stock options – – (120,431) 120,431 – –

Net gain  – – – – 2,160,668 2,160,668

BALANCE AS  
AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 54,579,477 33,314,786 1,491,320 903,797 (1,606,562) 34,103,341

Statement of shareholders’ equity
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Fiscal year ended September 30   2011 2010
    $ $

EXPLORATION EXPENSES  
Analysis    3,103 7,022
Drilling    1,241,470 8,476,206
Geology    1,033,892 456,794
Geophysical surveys    573,889 236,578
Completion work    60,204 2,629,654
Oil reservoir evaluation    57,337 123,531
General exploration expenses    239,717 42,352
Site maintenance    266,445 –
Evaluation of resources     97,057 –
Stock-based compensation   41,325 7,125

     3,614,439 11,979,262

DEDUCTIONS  
Oil reservoir evaluation expenses   107,021 109,738
Expenses carried over to properties following the swap   – 826,321
Exploration subsidies    502,092 2,816,828
Partner contributions   1,683,953 338,267

     2,293,066 4,091,154

NET INCREASE IN EXPLORATION EXPENSES  
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR    1,321,373 7,888,108

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR    21,234,411 13,346,303

BALANCE, END OF YEAR      22,555,784 21,234,411

Statement of deferred exploration expenses
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Fiscal year ended September 30   2011 2010
    $ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net gain (net loss)     2,160,668 (1,358,529)
Items not affecting cash  
Stock-based compensation    458,883 183,600
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   126,114 73,247
Depreciation of deferred lease incentives   27,273 –
Future income taxes    915,323 (434,875)
Gain on disposal of interest in certain licences    (5,158,607) –
Change in the fair value of financial assets  
 designated as held for trading   – 59,603
     (1,470,346) (1,476,954)

Net change in non-cash items related to operations   192,585 610,557

     (1,277,761) (866,397)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Raising of financing    – 2,243,310
Capital stock issuance    4,804,148 7,646,910
Share issuance costs    (834) (477,495)
Cash lease incentive   85,000 –

     4,888,314 9,412,725

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Disposal of investments    – 915,597
Acquisition of investments    (175,669) (754,331)
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets   (836,703) (130,486)
Disposal of interest in certain licences   6,690,000 –
Expenses for disposal of interest in certain licences   (725,333) –
Acquisition of oil and gas properties   (101,436) (692,915)
Increase in deferred exploration expenses net of deductions   (2,259,433) (10,768,222)

     2,591,426 (11,430,357)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH  
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     6,201,979 (2,884,029)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR    1,949,055 4,833,084

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR     8,151,034 1,949,055
  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ARE MADE UP  
OF THE FOLLOWING: 
Cash    695,699 448,055
Guaranteed investment certificate, collectable at any time, 2.4%,  
 maturing in December 2012   4,100,000 –
Guaranteed investment certificate, collectable at any time, 1.75%,  
 maturing in May 2013    3,354,331 –
Guaranteed investment certificate, collectable at any time, 1.6%,  
 matured in September 2011     – 1,500,000
Money market fund     1,004 1,000

     8,151,034 1,949,055

Additional cash flow information: Note 18

Statement of cash flows



Notes to financial statements
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1. Instrument of incorporation  
and nature of activities

The Company, incorporated under Part IA of the Québec 
Companies Act, and governed by the provisions of the 
Quebec Business Corporations Act, is an oil and gas 
exploration company. Its stock has been listed on the  
TSX Venture Exchange since February 16, 2005, under  
the symbol PEA.

The oil and gas properties held by the Company are  
in the exploration stage. The Company’s long-term 
profitability is related in part to the costs and success of  
the exploration and subsequent development programs.  
The Company has not yet determined whether its  
properties hold economically viable reserves.

All amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements are prepared using the historical 
cost method, except for certain financial instruments that 
are recognized at fair value. No information on fair value  
is presented when the carrying amount corresponds to  
a reasonable approximation of the fair value.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires 

Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses 
recorded during the fiscal year. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue recognition 

Revenue from investments is recognized when it is earned. 
Project management revenue is recognized when the 
exploration work is carried out. 

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value using the average cost method.

Foreign currency conversion

Monetary assets and liabilities are converted at the rate of 
exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses 
denominated in a foreign currency are recorded at the 
exchange rate in effect as at the date of the transaction. 
Exchange gains and losses are recorded in earnings. 

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation  
is calculated based on their useful life using the following 
methods and annual rates:  

 Method Rate

Leasehold improvements Straight line 3 years 
Office and field equipment Declining balance  20% 
IT equipment and rolling stock Declining balance 30% 
Reservoirs Declining balance 20% 
Land N/A N/A

September 30, 2011
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Transaction costs – financial instruments

Transaction costs are recognized as operating expenses 
when they are incurred.

Oil and gas properties and deferred exploration costs

The Company follows the full-cost accounting method, 
whereby costs related to the acquisition, exploration and 
development of properties, less government subsidies and 
revenues from oil reservoir evaluations, are recorded by 
property until the beginning of commercial production. 
These costs include geological and geophysical costs, the 
cost of drilling productive and non-productive wells, direct 
overhead related to these activities, and provisions for future 
site restoration. If economically profitable hydrocarbon 
reserves are developed, the capitalized costs of the properties 
in question are transferred to tangible fixed assets and 
amortized based on the production units for the fiscal year 
as a proportion of proven and probable crude oil and 
natural gas reserves. If it is determined that capitalized 
acquisition, exploration, and development costs are not 
recoverable over the estimated life of the property, or if  
the project is abandoned, the project is written down to  
its net realizable value. 

The recovery of amounts recorded for properties and the 
related deferred exploration costs depends on the discovery 
of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the 
Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete  
the development, and on future profitable production or 
alternatively, on the sufficiency of proceeds from disposal. 
The amounts recorded for oil and gas properties and 
deferred exploration expenses do not necessarily represent 
present-time or future value. Lastly, its activities are subject 
to governmental regulation.  

Site restoration costs

The Company recognizes the fair value of a future 
obligation associated with the provision for future site 
restoration as a liability in the period in which it is 
incurred and when a reasonable estimate of the fair value 
can be made. The fair value is capitalized and amortized 
over the same period as the underlying asset. The Company 
estimates the liability based on the estimated cost to abandon 
and reclaim a site in relation to its net ownership interest 
in the wells and facilities, including the estimated schedule 
of costs that will be incurred to this end in future periods. 
This estimate is periodically reviewed and changes are 
recorded prospectively as an increase or decrease in liability. 
Changes in the net present value of the future liability 
associated with site restoration are accrued pro rata to  
the time elapsed. Actual site restoration costs are charged 
to the accumulated provision as incurred.

Joint activities

The Company conducts certain oil and gas exploration 
activities jointly with third parties. These financial statements 
only take into account the Company’s proportional 
participation in these activities.

Government subsidies and partner contributions

Exploration tax credits, subsidies for exploration costs  
and partner contributions are recorded as a reduction in 
exploration expenses. Subsidies applied to operations are 
recorded as revenues in the statement of income.

In the event of any variances between the government 
subsidies claimed by the Company and the amounts granted 
by the tax authorities, the resulting gain or loss will be 
recorded in the fiscal year in which these variances are noted.

Income taxes

The Company uses the tax liability method of accounting 
for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax 
assets and liabilities are determined according to differences 
between the book value and tax value of assets and liabilities. 
They are measured by applying enacted or substantively 
enacted tax rates and laws as of the date of the financial 
statements for the fiscal years in which the temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered.

Under the provisions of tax legislation, deductions for 
resource expenses related to exploration and development 
activities and financed by flow-through shares were forfeited 
in favour of investors. According to the tax liability method 
related to the recognition of income taxes, future taxes 
related to differences occurring at the time of the forfeiture 
were recorded with a corresponding charge to share 
issuance expenses.

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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Basic and diluted net loss or gain per share

Net gain or loss per share is calculated according to the 
weighted average of outstanding shares during the reporting 
period. The diluted net loss per share is similar to the net 
loss per share since the exercising of warrants and stock 
options would have the effect of reducing the net loss  
per share. 

The diluted net gain per common share is calculated using 
the treasury stock method to evaluate the dilutive effect of 
stock options and warrants. Under this method, instruments 
with a dilutive effect, i.e. when the average market price of 
a share for the period exceeds the exercise price, are 
considered to have been exercised at the beginning of the 
period (or at the time of issuance if later) and the proceeds 
received are considered to have been used to redeem 
common shares of the Company at the average market price 
for the period.

Stock-based compensation

The Company accounts for the allocation of stock options 
granted under the stock option plan and the allocation of 
broker warrants as part of certain funding on a fair value 
basis. Stock options granted to salaried and non-salaried 
persons and broker warrants are accounted for on the basis 
of their fair value according to the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model.

When options and broker warrants are granted, the 
compensation expenses are applied to the activity in 
question and offset in contributed surplus.

Any consideration paid by the participants when options 
and broker warrants are exercised, as well as the 
contributed surplus created when options and broker 
warrants are allocated, are credited to capital stock.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income is the change in equity of an 
enterprise arising from transactions and other events and 
circumstances from non-owner sources. It includes items 
that would not normally be included in net income such as 
unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investments. 

Capital stock

Capital stock issued as non-monetary consideration is 
accounted for at the fair market value of shares to be issued 
by the Company and depends on the stock price as at the date 
on which the stock issuance agreement was entered into. 

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are made up of 
cash and short-term investments that can be converted into 
cash at any time.

3. Future accounting policies

International Financial Reporting Standards

The Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) of Canada has 
confirmed that effective January 1, 2011, International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) will replace Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for 
publicly accountable enterprises. IFRS will apply to fiscal 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

Accordingly, the Company expects that its first interim 
financial statements presented in accordance with IFRS  
will be for the three-month period ended December 31, 
2011, and its first annual financial statements presented  
in accordance with IFRS will be for the year ending 
September 30, 2012. IFRS use a conceptual framework 
similar to Canadian GAAP, but there are significant 
differences in recognition, measurement, presentation,  
and disclosure requirements.

The standard-setting bodies that promulgate Canadian 
GAAP and the IFRS have significant ongoing projects that 
could affect the ultimate differences between Canadian GAAP 
and IFRS and their impact on the Company’s financial reports 
in future years. The future impact of IFRS will also depend 
on the particular circumstances prevailing in those years.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or do so 
only at excessive cost. The Company finances its growth 
through the issuance of shares and the sale of interests in 
some of its oil assets. One of Management’s main financial 
objectives is to maintain an optimal level of liquidity by 
actively managing the exploration work to be performed. 
Considering the liquid resources at the Company’s disposal, 
Management feels that the Company’s exposure to liquidity 
risk is low.

All of the Company’s financial liabilities have a maturity  
of less than one year.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result  
of changes in market conditions. There are three types  
of market risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, and other 
price risks. The Company is exposed to two of these risks: 
interest rate risk and other price risks.

a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the impact of interest rate 
fluctuations on the value of long-term investments and debt.

Investments bear interest at a fixed rate and thus expose 
the Company to the risk of variations in the fair value 
caused by interest rate fluctuations. As at September 30, 
2011, a 1% move in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, would have affected the net gain by $39,480.

The Company has a variable-rate bank loan. Consequently, 
it incurs interest rate risk based on fluctuations in the 
prime rate. As at September 30, 2011, a 1% move in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have 
affected the net gain by $16,399.

4. Financial instrument disclosures

Risk management policy

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities expose it  
to various risks. The following analysis provides an 
assessment of the risks as at September 30, 2011,  
the balance sheet date:

Credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company 
to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents 
and accounts receivable. The Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents are held with or issued by first-class financial 
institutions. Receivables mostly represent sums due from 
the federal and provincial governments and from partners. 
Therefore, Management considers the risk of non-
performance on these instruments as minimal.

Maximum credit risk exposure:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Cash    695,699 448,055
Money market fund    1,004 1,000
Guaranteed investment certificates   8,384,331 2,254,331
Receivables   4,617,371 2,920,900

     13,698,405 5,624,286

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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Financial assets / liabilities Category Measurement

Cash and cash equivalents Held for trading Fair value

Receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Investments Held for trading Fair value

Payables and accrued expenses Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Loan Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

B) other price risks

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the price of oil 
and gas, as the price influences the potential profitability  
of the Company’s oil and gas properties and therefore 
affects its exploration program and any decision whether  
to proceed with production.

Classification of financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified into one of the 
following five categories: held for trading, held to maturity, 
loans and receivables, available for sale, or other financial 
liabilities. The classification determines the accounting 
treatment of the instruments. The classification is 
determined by the Company when the financial instrument 
is initially recorded based on its underlying purpose.

Financial instruments measured at amortized cost are 
initially recognized at fair value and then subsequently  
at amortized cost with gains and losses recognized in the 
statement of income the period in which the gain or loss 
occurs. Changes in the fair value of financial instruments 
classified as held for trading are recorded in the statement 
of income in the period in which the change takes place.

Fair value

The fair value of investments is assessed in the following 
manner:

Guaranteed investment certificates: The cost corresponds  
to the fair value considering their recent issuance.

Money market fund: The cost corresponds to the fair value 
because of their short-term maturity date.

For long-term debt, the book value approximates their fair 
value because of the variable interest rate on the debt.

The Company’s assets and liabilities are classified and measured as follows:
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4. Financial instrument disclosures (continued)

Fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the balance 
sheet are classified using a fair value hierarchy that  
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making  
the measurements.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – Valuation based on unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities: 
Level 1 consists of cash;

Level 2 – Valuation techniques using inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the asset  
or liability either directly (i.e. as prices)  
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). Cash 
equivalents and investments are classified  
in Level 2.

Level 3 – Valuation techniques using inputs that are not 
based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable 
market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A financial 
instrument is classified in the lowest level of the hierarchy 
for which a significant input has been considered in 
measuring fair value. 

For the fiscal year, no financial assets were transferred 
between levels 1 and 2.

The fair value of financial instruments is summarized as follows:

  2011 2010
  Book Fair  Book Fair 
  value value value value 
  $ $ $ $

Financial
assets held for trading: 
Cash and cash equivalents  8,151,034 8,151,034 1,949,055 1,949,055
Investments  930,000 930,000 754,331 754,331
     
Loans and receivables:     
Receivables  4,617,371 4,617,371 2,920,900 2,920,900
     
Other financial liabilities:     
Payables and accrued expenses  1,469,518 1,469,518 822,339 822,339
Loan  2,243,310 2,243,310 2,243,310 2,243,310

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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5. Capital management

The Company’s capital management objective is to preserve 
its ability to continue its exploration activities. The Company 
includes shareholders’ equity and loans in its definition  
of capital. Management reviews its capital management 
approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach 
is reasonable considering the Company’s size. 

The Company’s financial strategy is developed and adapted 
based on market conditions in order to maintain a flexible 
capital structure in compliance with the aforementioned 
objectives and to respond to the characteristics of the risks 
linked to the underlying assets. In order to maintain or 
adjust its capital structure, the Company, being in its early 
stages, is required to issue new shares.

There were no changes in the Company’s capital management 
objectives, policies and procedures during the year. 

The Company is subject to the following externally exposed 
capital requirements:

Maximum adjusted long-term debt/equity ratio of 2.5/1.

As at September 30, 2011, the Company is meeting all  
of its financial commitments.

    2011 2010
    $ $

Guaranteed investment certificates, 1.68%, collectable beginning  
 in July 2011 and maturing in July 2012   – 530,000
Guaranteed investment certificate, 1.60%, collectable at any time  
 and maturing in September 2012   – 224,331
Guaranteed investment certificate, 2.40%, collectable at any time  
 and maturing in December 2012   480,000 –
Guaranteed investment certificate, 1.752%, collectable at any time  
 and maturing in May 2013   450,000 –
     930,000 754,331
Portion collectable during the next fiscal year   930,000 754,331

     – –

    2011 2010
    $ $

Partners    981,613 –
Consumer tax credits    41,847 24,210
Tax credits    3,318,935 2,816,842
Interest    114,763 2,512
Others   160,213 77,336

     4,617,371 2,920,900

The tax credits refer to applications that have not yet been examined by the tax authorities.

6. Receivables

7. Investments
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   2011   2010
  Cost Accumulated Net book Cost Accumulated Net book 
   depreciation value  depreciation value 
  $ $ $ $ $ $

Leasehold improvements 565,179 65,807 499,372 18,387 16,831 1,556

IT and office equipment 266,809 96,046 170,763 160,040 60,713 99,327

Rolling stock 236,187 157,594 78,593 236,187 123,911 112,276

Reservoirs 115,739 8,122 107,617 – – –

Land 75,434 – 75,434 – – –

  1,259,348 327,569 931,779 414,614 201,455 213,159

8. Tangible fixed assets

9. Oil and gas properties

    2011 2010
    $ $

Quebec     
Anticosti(1)    296,297 259,970
Gastonguay    664,398 638,497
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay   404,933 382,915
Gaspé(1)    1,635,540 2,427,941

New Brunswick    
Dalhousie   146,837 143,306

     3,148,005 3,852,629

The properties indicated by the reference (1) in the previous 
table carry obligations related to their eventual coming on 
stream. To date, the Company has met all of its obligations. 
Only its future or potential obligations and transactions 
specific to the fiscal year are described next.

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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Gaspé properties 

In May 2008, the Company acquired a 100% interest on 
6,043 km2 of these properties (excluding the Haldimand 
property), subject to a royalty varying from 0.5% to 2.5%  
of the future oil and gas production. In June 2010, the 
Company carried out an asset swap, bringing its interest  
to 100% in all the licences, i.e. an area of 150 km2, with  
the exception of a 9-km2 zone where its interest is 64% 
(Haldimand project). On December 20, 2010, the Company 
signed final agreements with Québénergie Inc. (a subsidiary 
of Investcan) for the sale of 50% of its interest in the 
Haldimand discovery and in 13 licences surrounding the 
discovery, for a total of $15,190,000. A sum of $6,690,000 
was paid in cash, and $8,500,000 in exploration work will 
be carried out by Québénergie Inc. over the next two years.

Haldimand property

On May 6, 2008, a second agreement set the boundaries of  
a development area of 9 km2 around the Pétrolia Haldimand 
No. 1 well in which Pétrolia holds a 45% interest, Junex 45%, 
and Gastem 10%. Some of the licences to these properties 
are subject to 5% royalties. Under an amendment to the 
original agreement signed on July 22, 2009, Pétrolia 
became the operator of the entire 9 km2 development area. 
On October 1, 2009, Pétrolia acquired all of Gastem’s 
interests. Following its decision not to participate in the 
drilling of a second well, Junex’s participation was reduced 
by 9%. Following the signature of final agreements for the 
sale of 50% of its interest in the Haldimand discovery, 
Pétrolia’s interest in Haldimand is now 32%, Québénergie’s 
32%, and Junex’s 36%. 

Since it did not participate in some of the exploration work 
on Haldimand deposits 1 and 2, Junex is subject to a heavy 
penalty. As a result, Pétrolia and Québénergie will share all 
the revenue from these two deposits until the penalty is 
paid in full.

Bourque property

The Company had signed a $20 million farm-out agreement 
with the oil company Pilatus Energy Canada, which is 
affiliated with the Company. By investing $20 million in 
exploration and development work, Pilatus could have 
acquired a 70% interest in the four licences of the Bourque 
project during the next five years. 

Unfortunately, the difficult economic situation in 2009 
prevented Pilatus from meeting the obligations set out in 
the agreement with Pétrolia. The parties mutually agreed  
to terminate the partners’ obligations in exchange for a 5% 
interest in the project for Pilatus. 

As a result, Pétrolia has returned to actively looking for  
a new partner to develop the project.

Anticosti property

The Company has acquired all of Hydro-Québec’s rights on 
Anticosti Island. In return, a priority royalty on future oil 
production will be paid to Hydro-Québec. Under this 
agreement, Pétrolia shares with Corridor Resources Inc. an 
interest of 25% in 6 licences and of 50% in 29 exploration 
licences on the island and acts as operator over most of 
them. In June 2010, the Company participated in the 
drilling of three exploration wells and extracted a core 
sample from the Macasty formation to evaluate its potential 
as an oil shale reservoir. Once the coring results are 
obtained, the Company plans to invest in development work 
to better estimate the oil potential on Anticosti Island. 
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   2011  2010
   September 30 Additions September 30 
   $ $ $

Quebec     
Anticosti   6,341,925 1,036,648 5,305,277
Gastonguay   74,638 1,165 73,473
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay  3,730,267 198,834 3,531,433
Gaspé   2,450,597 185,791 2,264,806
 Bourque project   3,668,983 88,836 3,580,147
 Haldimand project   11,198,581 1,814,728 9,383,853
 Tar Point No.1 project    4,955,679 256,651 4,699,028

New Brunswick     
Dalhousie    1,143,494 31,786 1,111,708

    33,564,164 3,614,439 29,949,725

Less     
Exploration subsidies and partner contributions 
   
Anticosti   2,280,008 349,376 1,930,632
Gastonguay   18,796 381 18,415
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay  411,354 69,536 341,818
Gaspé   550,176 66,948 483,228
 Bourque project   3,060,535 32,987 3,027,548
 Haldimand project   3,667,265 1,496,746 2,170,519
 Tar Point No. 1 project   796,565 170,071 626,494
Dalhousie  6,922 – 6,922

    10,791,621 2,186,045 8,605,576

Oil reservoir evaluation income 
Anticosti   – – –
Gastonguay   – – –
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay  – – –
Gaspé   – – –
 Bourque project   – – –
 Haldimand project   216,759 107,021 109,738
 Tar Point No.1 project   – – –
Dalhousie  – – –

    216,759 107,021 109,738

    22,555,784 1,321,373 21,234,411

10. Deferred exploration expenses

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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  2010   2009
  September 30 Additions Exchange (Note 9) September 30 
  $ $ $ $

Quebec     
Anticosti  5,305,277 3,961,253 – 1,344,024
Gastonguay  73,473 26,971 – 46,502
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay 3,531,433 55,899 – 3,475,534
Gaspé   2,264,806 118,278 (728,799) 2,875,327
 Bourque project  3,580,147 215,916 – 3,364,231
 Haldimand project  9,383,853 3,052,652 – 6,331,201
 Tar Point No. 1 project  4,699,028 4,521,888 – 177,140
Others  – – (102,707) 102,707

New Brunswick
Dalhousie   1,111,708 26,405 – 1,085,303

    29,949,725 11,979,262 (831,506) 18,801,969

Less     
Exploration subsidies and partner contributions
   
Anticosti  1,930,632 1,488,021 – 442,611
Gastonguay  18,415 7,732 – 10,683
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay 341,818 16,624 – 325,194
Gaspé   483,228 25,589 (5,185) 462,824
 Bourque project  3,027,548 183,317 – 2,844,231
 Haldimand project  2,170,519 869,333 – 1,301,186
 Tar Point No. 1 project  626,494 564,479 – 62,015
Dalhousie  6,922 – – 6,922

    8,605,576 3,155,095 (5,185) 5,455,666
      

Oil reservoir evaluation income   
Anticosti  – – – –
Gastonguay  – – – –
Gaspésia – Edgar – Marcel-Tremblay – – – –
Gaspé  – – – –
 Bourque project  – – – –
 Haldimand project  109,738 109,738 – –
 Tar Point No. 1 project  – – – –
Dalhousie  – – – –

    109,738 109,738 – –

    21,234,411 8,714,429 (826,321) 13,346,303



 
P

ét
ro

lia
 
5

2
  

   
 

 
 

N
ot

es
 t

o 
fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l 

st
a

te
m

en
ts

11. Loan

The Company has access to an authorized bank loan of 
$2,500,000, of which $2,243,310 has been drawn upon as at 
September 30, 2011, bearing interest at the Caisse centrale 
Desjardins prime rate plus 1%. The bank loan is guaranteed 
by a $2,500,000 mortgage on all of the Company’s present 
and future accounts receivable, creating a priority claim on 
the reimbursable tax credits and future tax credits; it is also 
guaranteed by an 80% surety from Investissement Québec. 
The repayment of the principal is due during the next  
fiscal year.

12. Provision for future site restoration

Management calculates provisions for future site 
restoration based on the Company’s net share of the 
estimated costs of abandoning and reclaiming its wells  
and facilities and the schedule of estimated future costs. 

As at September 30, 2011, the estimated amount required  
to settle site restoration obligations, indexed at 3.5%, was 
$369,178. Of this amount, $135,500 will be settled over  
the next fiscal year. The total future amount was discounted 
at the weighted average rate of 5.25% over a 1- to 30-year 
period. The estimated undiscounted cash flows required to 
settle the obligations is $436,000.

The following table sets out the provision for future site restoration:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance, beginning of year     – –
Incurred liabilities     369,178 –
Balance, end of year     369,178 –

Portion of liability to be settled during next fiscal year    135,500 –

     233,678 –

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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13. Capital stock

Authorized

Unlimited number of common, participating,  
voting shares without par value.

Issued

54,579,477 (2010 – 50,067,287) common shares.

Stock-based compensation

The Company has a stock option plan for its directors, 
officers, key employees and suppliers. The maximum 
number of shares reserved for issuance under the stock 
option plan is 10%. The exercise price is the market price  
or discounted market price on the day before the option  
was granted. The maximum term of granted options may 
not exceed five years. Options may be exercised immediately 
upon allocation for directors and according to a three-year 
vesting schedule for other participants.

The following table summarizes the assumptions used with 
the Black-Scholes valuation model for the determination of 
the stock-based compensation for the stock options granted 
during the year ended September 30, 2011:

  2011 2010
  May February December February

Risk-free interest rate  3% 3% 3% 2.25%
Expected volatility  94% 94% 94% 102%
Lifetime granted (years)  5 5 5 5
Rate of return of shares  Nil Nil Nil Nil

Accordingly, the stock-based compensation was distributed as follows:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Statement of income    458,883 183,600
Deferred exploration expenses   41,325 7,125

Total    500,208 190,725
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13. Capital stock (continued)

The outstanding options and the activity relating to these options are as follows:

  2011 2010
  Number Weighted average  Number Weighted average 
  of options exercise price of options exercise price 
  outstanding $ outstanding $

Outstanding, beginning of year 2,965,000 0.64 4,090,000 0.58
Granted  1,495,000 0.94 270,000 0.89
Exercised  (558,750) 0.53 (1,192,500) 0.43
Expired  (625,000) 0.40 (202,500) 1.03

Outstanding, end of year  3,276,250 0.84 2,965,000 0.64

The weighted average fair value of options granted  
during the year was $0.59 (2010 – $0.68).

As at September 30, 2011, the number of exercisable options  
was 2,198,750 (2010 – 2,965,000) at a weighted average exercise  
price of $0.80 (2010 - $0.64).

As at September 30, 2011, the stock options granted as part  
of the Plan are allocated as follows:

 Weighted average  Number Weighted average Expiration date 
 exercise price  remaining years  
 $  
 

 0.74 21,250 0.7 May 21, 2012
 0.40 547,500 0.8 June 21, 2012
 0.60 400,000 1.3 February 12, 2013
 0.60 125,000 1.4 March 3, 2013
 1.25 427,500 1.8 July 7, 2013
 0.74 120,000 2.7 May 21, 2014
 0.89 270,000 3.4 February 25, 2015
 0.50 790,000 4.2 December 8, 2015
 1.31 75,000 4.4 February 25, 2016
 1.69 500,000 4.6 May 18, 2016

Warrants

Outstanding warrants can be exercised as follows: 

 Exercise price Number Expiration date 
 $ 

 1.30 264,721 December 4, 2011

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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14. Future income taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the combined statutory rate  
(federal and provincial). The difference is attributable to the following items:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Gain (loss) before income taxes    3,075,991 (1,793,404)

Income tax at combined statutory rate of 26.9% (2010 – 28.4%)   827,442 (509,327)
Capital cost allowance on issuance costs   (68,563) (89,696)
Stock-based compensation    123,439 52,142
Revaluation of future tax assets and liabilities    85,349 145,768
Non-deductible expenses and others   13,356 25,240
Non-taxable portion of capital gain   – (62,423)
Difference due to the rate change   (65,700) (67,465)
Unrealized capital loss   – 70,886

     915,323 (434,875)

Future tax assets and liabilities arise from the differences between  
the tax value and the book value of the following items:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Future tax assets:  
Deferred losses    (1,229,491) (1,396,141)
Share issuance costs    (116,233) (194,865)
Others    (29,263) (37,883)

      (1,374,987) (1,628,889)
  
Future tax liabilities:  
Properties    846,814 28,373
Deferred exploration expenses    2,767,303 2,924,099

      3,614,117 2,952,472

Net future tax liabilities    2,239,130 1,323,583

As at September 30, 2011, fiscal losses available to reduce future 
taxes and for which tax benefits have been recorded amount  
to approximately $4,866,028 and $4,196,595 at the federal and 
provincial levels respectively. The expiration dates of the losses 
carried forward are as follows: 

  Federal Provincial 
  $ $

2015 14,675 –
2026 574,450 389,776
2027 648,473 514,153
2028 660,423 524,691
2029 1,367,495 1,235,683
2030 1,600,512 1,532,292
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15. Commitments

Under the terms of exploration licences granted by  
Quebec’s Ministry of Natural Resources and Wildlife and the 
New Brunswick Ministry of Natural Resources, the Company 
has agreed to pay fees in the amount of $401,000 between 
now and 2013. The minimum payments due during the 
upcoming fiscal years are as follows:

  2012 2013
  $ $
  200,500 200,500

In addition, the Company must undertake work on its 
properties in Quebec on a yearly basis, for which the 
minimum costs vary with the age of the licences; the cost  
is $0.50 per hectare for the first year of the licence and 
increases annually by $0.50, ultimately reaching $2.50  
per hectare for the fifth year. The minimum work to be 
initiated is $586,485 in 2012, $653,983 in 2013 and 
$875,311 in 2014.

The adoption of Bill 18 in Quebec suspends some of these 
statutory work obligations for up to three years while at 
the same time extending the validity of all the licences for 
the same period. Pétrolia may, however, still continue its 
activities despite the suspended obligation.  

The Company has signed leases with four companies for  
the rental of offices and a house until 2016. The balance of 
the commitments under these leases, excluding escalation 
clauses, is $1,284,545 of which $5,000 is payable to a 
company in which a director holds a minority interest.

The minimum payments required in the coming years are 
as follows:

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
 $ $ $ $ $
 275,306 275,247 275,247 275,247 183,498

The Company has undertaken to support the renewal of the 
NSERC-Anticosti Forest Products Industrial Research Chair 
by contributing $200,000 over a five-year period. A portion 
of these costs could potentially be assumed by a partner.

The minimum payments due over the next five years are  
as follows:

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
 $ $ $ $ $
 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

16. Contingencies

Financing

The Company is partially financed through the issuance of 
flow-through shares and has fulfilled all of its commitments 
in respect of future exploration work. However, even though 
the Company took all necessary measures for this purpose, 
there is no guarantee that all of the funds spent by the 
Company with respect to these shares will be qualified by 
the tax authorities in the event that they conduct an audit. 
The rejection of certain expenses by the tax authorities may 
have negative tax consequences for investors. 

Environment and letter of guarantee

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental 
protection legislation. Environmental consequences are 
difficult to identify, whether in terms of outcome, timetable 
or impact. To the best of Management’s knowledge, the 
Company is currently operating in accordance with existing 
laws and regulations. Letters of guarantee in the amount  
of $930,000 were issued in favour of the Ministry of 
Natural Resources and Wildlife to guarantee that certain 
sites will be shut down. 

These letters are secured by guaranteed investment 
certificates for an equivalent amount (Note 7).

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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17. Related-party transactions

The Company entered into transactions with two companies whose  
main officer, holding a minority interest, is also a director of Pétrolia:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance sheet:   
Deferred exploration expenses    – 51,532

Statement of income:   
Salaries and benefits    – 938
Other expenses    9,426 11,847

As at September 30, 2011, an amount of $37,500 is due from these companies  
(2010 – $35,915).

The Company entered into transactions with a director who acts  
as a consultant for the Company:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance sheet:   
Deferred exploration expenses    3,469 22,905

The balance due to this director is $0 as at September 30, 2011 (2010 – $0). 

The Company entered into the following transactions with a company  
whose director also sits on Pétrolia’s board:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Statement of income:  
Salaries and benefits    20,438 101,724
Office supplies    1,208 2,600
Telecommunications    – 5,322

The balance due from this company as at September 30, 2011 is $2,516  
(2010 – balance due of $161).

The Company entered into the following transactions with a close relative  
of Management, who provided services to the Company: 

    2011 2010
    $ $

Balance sheet:  
Tangible fixed assets    49,021 –

These transactions occurred in the normal course of business and are valued  
at the exchange value, which is the amount of the established consideration  
accepted by the related parties.
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18. Additional cash flow information

Items not affecting cash and cash equivalents related to financing  
and investing activities are as follows:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Receivables related to deferred exploration expenses   (1,578,519) (1,158,284)
Stock-based compensation related to deferred exploration expenses   41,325 7,125
Payables and accrued expenses related to deferred exploration expenses  229,956 (902,635)
Payables and accrued expenses related to tangible fixed assets   8,031 5,390
Future taxes related to share issuance costs   224 844,909
Shares issued for debt     33,750 –

Cash flows related to operating activities include interests paid  
in the amount of $84,470 (2010 – $0).

19. Events subsequent to the balance sheet date

On October 5, 2011, a motion for compensatory and punitive damages  
was filed against the Company as part of proceedings that had been instituted  
by Pétrolia against Ugo Lapointe and Le Soleil newspaper. The amount  
of the suit is estimated at $400,000. The Company intends to contest  
the demands made in the motion.

20. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform  
with the current year’s presentation.

Notes to financial statements
September 30, 2011
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For the fiscal year ended September 30   2011 2010
    $ $

A - ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES   
Stock-based compensation (Note 13)   458,883 183,600
Salaries and benefits    717,137 599,801
Insurance    52,546 53,146
Travel    134,940 112,407
Maintenance and office supplies   64,329 52,532
Board of directors expenses    141,546 137,869
Information for shareholders    74,493 84,231
Rent    105,395 35,457
Promotion and entertainment    121,421 126,717
Professional fees    177,335 219,497
Capital tax    3,000 60,505
Telecommunications    15,095 18,885
Loan interest    89,201 2,458
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   69,362 51,929
Other expenses   36,374 20,869

     2,261,057 1,759,903

   

B - OPERATING EXPENSES   
Stock-based compensation (Note 13)   41,325 7,125
Salaries and benefits    875,685 999,763
Insurance    2,913 2,203
Travel    38,830 8,148
Maintenance and office supplies   32,265 32,946
Training    21,414 4,797
Rent    65,109 72,645
Professional fees    9,144 –
Telecommunications    9,548 8,380
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   56,752 21,318
Other expenses    6,777 2,747
Allocation to deferred exploration work   (1,159,762) (1,160,072)

     – –

Appendices
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